Earth

Negotiations Bulletin

A Reporting Service for Environment and Development Negotiations
Online at http://www.iisd.ca/forestry/unff/unff7/

Vol. 13 No. 155

Published by the International Institute for Sustainable Development (IISD)

Thursday, 19 April 2007

UNFF7 HIGHLIGHTS:
WEDNESDAY, 18 APRIL 2007

On Wednesday, 18 April, the Seventh Session of the United Nations
Forum on Forests (UNFF7) convened at UN Headquarters in New
York to discuss the non-legally binding instrument (NLBI) on all types
of forests, and the Multi-Year Programme of Work (MYPOW) for the
period 2008-2015. In the morning plenary, delegates heard a panel
discussion from member organizations of the Collaborative Partnership
on Forests (CPF), followed by a multi-stakeholder dialogue. In the
afternoon, delegates convened in two working groups: Working Group
I (WGI), co-chaired by Hamidon Ali (Malaysia) and Hans Hoogeveen
(the Netherlands), discussed the NLBI draft composite text; and Working
Group II (WGII), co-chaired by André-Jules Madingou (Gabon) and
Arvids Ozols (Latvia), completed the first reading of the MYPOW draft
text.

PLENARY

CPF PANEL: UNFF7 Chair Hoogeveen invited representatives of
CPF member organizations to report on their organizations’ priorities
regarding sustainable forest management (SFM) and the Global
Objectives on Forests. Jan Heino, CPF Chair, said clear UNFF guidance
to CPF members and consistent messages by member States to CPF
member governing bodies are essential for enhancing inter-agency
cooperation.

Luis Macchiavello, International Tropical Timber Organization, called
for inter-agency cooperation to address complex SFM issues in tropical
forests including illegal logging, certification and indigenous rights.
Jorge Rodriguez, UN Development Programme, urged mobilization of
resources through multilateral environmental organizations to implement
the Global Objectives and IPF/IFF Proposals for Action.

Andrew Bennett, Center for International Forestry Research, called
for clear guidance from partners about their priorities, underlining the
importance of national systems for delivery of implementation support.
Warren Evans, World Bank, outlined the proposed Global Forest
Alliance that will engage partners toward achieving targets related to
climate change, poverty reduction, protected areas and sustainability of
production forestry, and which could provide a means of implementation
to support the Global Objectives and NLBI. Jan Heino, FAO, called for
strengthening existing instruments, funds and organizations instead of
creating new layers of governance.

Risto Seppala, International Union of Forest Research Organizations,
highlighted a new joint CPF science and technology initiative supporting
UNFF and other forest-related processes by providing state-of-the-art
scientific knowledge. Mark Zimsky, Global Environment Facility (GEF),
highlighted a framework strategy for SFM to be presented to the GEF

Council in June, outlining opportunities for countries to implement SFM
through GEF projects, and a process to shorten and simplify the GEF
project cycle.

In the ensuing discussion, GUATEMALA advocated fair and
transparent GEF financing procedures and hiring local experts to revise
projects. AUSTRALIA proposed allocating more time for dialogue with
CPF members in the future. The DOMINICAN REPUBLIC advocated
effective use of resources focused on national priorities. CUBA requested
a report from the CPF that would provide feedback on cooperation with
UNFF.

MULTI-STAKEHOLDER DIALOGUE: CHILDREN AND
YOUTH highlighted the relationship between SFM and intergenerational
equity, and called for criteria and indicators on education and capacity
building. WOMEN underscored concerns about women’s insecure
land tenure and lack of capacity within forestry institutions to design
and monitor gender-responsive strategies. FARMERS AND SMALL
FOREST LANDOWNERS called for clear and secure tenure and land
use rights and a mechanism to support public-private partnerships.
NGOs AND INDIGENOUS PEOPLES cautioned against relying
on market solutions to combat forest destruction and called for:
recognizing indigenous and local communities’ rights; and community
and small landholder access to the financial mechanism. SCIENTIFIC
AND TECHNOLOGICAL COMMUNITIES supported a trust fund
for forests and NLBI text on increasing scientific and technological
capacity and cooperation. Noting the role of fair wages and labor group
empowerment for SFM, WORKERS AND LABOR UNIONS called for
references in the NLBI to relevant conventions of the International Labor
Organization.

Many delegates welcomed the participation of Major Groups and
their proposals. URUGUAY and the DOMINICAN REPUBLIC
supported addressing workers’ rights in the NLBI. On financing
capacity building for stakeholder involvement, TANZANIA proposed
expanding social financing rather than relying solely on donor support.
On future multi-stakeholder dialogues, AUSTRALIA urged participation
of the Business and Industry Major Group, CROATIA, certification
organizations, and SENEGAL, local communities involved in SFM.
Supported by many, AUSTRALIA encouraged textual proposals from
Major Groups, with SWITZERLAND suggesting allowance for Major
Groups’ participation in WGs. MALAY SIA opposed, calling instead for
stakeholder participation at the national level.

WORKING GROUP I — NLBI

NATIONAL POLICIES AND MEASURES: AUSTRALIA
and MEXICO, supported by CUBA, the EU, COSTA RICA and
GUATEMALA, requested taking action to implement the NLBI, rather

This issue of the Earth Negotiations Bulletin © <enb@iisd.org> is written and edited by Deborah Davenport, Ph.D., Reem Hajjar, Stefan Jungcurt, Leila Mead and Julie Taylor.
The Digital Editor is Dan Birchall. The Editor is Pamela S. Chasek, Ph.D. <pam@iisd.org> and the Director of IISD Reporting Services is Langston James “Kimo” Goree VI
<kimo@jiisd.org>. The Sustaining Donors of the Bulletin are the United Kingdom (through the Department for International Development — DFID), the Government of the
United States of America (through the Department of State Bureau of Oceans and International Environmental and Scientific Affairs), the Government of Canada (through
CIDA), the Danish Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the Government of Germany (through the German Federal Ministry of Environment - BMU, and the German Federal Ministry of
Development Cooperation - BMZ), the Netherlands Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the European Commission (DG-ENV) and the Italian Ministry for the Environment and Territory
General Directorate for Nature Protection. General Support for the Bulletin during 2007 is provided by the Swiss Federal Office for the Environment (FOEN), the Norwegian
Ministry of Foreign Affairs and the Ministry of Environment, the Government of Australia, the Austrian Federal Ministry for the Environment, the Ministry of Environment of
Sweden, the New Zealand Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade, SWAN International, the Japanese Ministry of Environment (through the Institute for Global Environmental
Strategies - IGES) and the Japanese Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry (through the Global Industrial and Social Progress Research Institute - GISPRI). Funding for
translation of the Earth Negotiations Bulletin into French has been provided by the International Organization of the Francophonie (IOF) and the French Ministry of Foreign
Affairs. Funding for the translation of the Earth Negotiations Bulletin into Spanish has been provided by the Ministry of Environment of Spain. The opinions expressed in the
Earth Negotiations Bulletin are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of IISD or other donors. Excerpts from the Earth Negotiations Bulletin may be used
in non-commercial publications with appropriate academic citation. For information on the Bulletin, including requests to provide reporting services, contact the Director of IISD
Reporting Services at <kimo@iisd.org>, +1-646-536-7556 or 212 East 47th St. #21F, New York, NY 10017, USA. The ENB Team at the UNFF7 can be contacted by e-mail at
<reem@iisd.org>.




Y e O
T|Reporting
2|Services

Thursday, 19 April 2007

Vol. 13 No. 155 Page 2

than only implementing SFM and achieving the Global Objectives.
BRAZIL and COLOMBIA opposed.

On developing national forest programmes to support SFM, INDIA,
BRAZIL, the US and VENEZUELA opposed reference to quantifiable
and timebound targets.

On promoting use of management tools for projects potentially
impacting forests, CHINA, opposed by many, requested reference
to “environmentally-friendly” tools rather than “tools, such as
environmental impact assessments.” The US opposed deleting reference
to promoting tools subject to national legislation. The AFRICAN
GROUP, opposed by INDIA, requested deleting a reference to tools for
life-cycle assessment.

VENEZUELA, INDONESIA, INDIA and BRAZIL requested
deleting a paragraph on promoting sustainable forest goods production.
MEXICO and COSTA RICA opposed, while SENEGAL and
SINGAPORE requested only deleting reference to equal distribution of
benefits of commercialization. The DOMINICAN REPUBLIC requested
specifying that benefits be equitably distributed among forest-dependent
communities rather than the rural poor.

On promoting an enabling environment for SFM, the AFRICAN
GROUP, supported by VENEZUELA and INDIA and opposed by
SWITZERLAND, preferred deleting reference to supporting mechanisms
such as secure land tenure or appropriate tax policies. MEXICO
requested reference to environmental services mechanisms.

Opposed by SWITZERLAND and the EU, AUSTRALIA proposed
combining paragraphs on promoting enabling environments for the
private sector and local communities.

VENEZUELA, opposed by SWITZERLAND, the EU, MEXICO and
others, suggested deleting a paragraph on encouraging the development
of mechanisms to value costs and benefits derived from forest goods and
services.

On enhanced cooperation, AUSTRALIA, CHINA, the US, BRAZIL
and the EU, proposed removing text irrelevant to national level
implementation. The US preferred establishing or strengthening “public-
private” rather than “multi-stakeholder” partnerships and programmes.

Delegates debated references to governance and forest law
enforcement. Developing countries urged reference to governance in
the forest sector only. VENEZUELA proposed deleting the section but
retaining a paragraph on capacity building, and with PANAMA and
BRAZIL, proposed text on international commitments to build capacity
to enforce forest legislation.

On threats to forest health, the EU and others proposed reference to
necessary counteractions to deforestation and threats to forest health.
URUGUAY preferred reference to preventative policies. The US
suggested reference to the threat of alien invasive species, and CHINA,
of natural disasters and human activities. On protected areas, the EU and
the US each suggested alternative text regarding measures to conserve
representative forest types.

Several developing countries opposed references to sharing traditional
knowledge. The US suggested referring to methodologies for assessing
the condition of traditional knowledge. IRAN suggested addressing
traditional knowledge under governance.

Many delegates supported moving a subsection on research to the
section on means of implementation and proposed deleting or simplifying
references on joint research initiatives with CPF member organizations.

WORKING GROUP I - MYPOW

ENHANCED COOPERATION: The US proposed: shifting
emphasis from UNFF provision of policy guidance to enhanced
cooperation through information sharing; a new subsection entitled Multi-
Stakeholder Perspectives and Inputs; and, opposed by CUBA, deleting a
paragraph on synergy-building with other relevant bodies. AUSTRALIA
advocated including clear guidance to CPF partners.

INTERNATIONAL YEAR OF FORESTS 2011: AUSTRALIA,
with the EU, proposed deleting this subsection to avoid repetition.

PAKISTAN called for specific focus on low forest cover countries.

The US proposed language inviting States and Major Groups to

inform the Forum of efforts and activities to “celebrate” rather than
“commemorate” the IYF. The INSTITUTE OF CULTURAL AFFAIRS
INTERNATIONAL advocated an annual international day of forests, and
proposed the first one focus on “forests with people.”

NLBI: AUSTRALIA, with the US and VENEZUELA, proposed
deleting this section. Supporting retention, the EU, with the
DOMINICAN REPUBLIC and SWITZELRAND, proposed alternative
language stating that UNFF will give policy guidance for NLBI
implementation, rather than act as the governing body, and opposed
text on the UNFF Secretariat overseeing NLBI implementation.
ARGENTINA said the Forum should act as the governing body, but
that WGI should discuss this issue. The AFRICAN GROUP preferred
retaining the original text stating that the UNFF should be the governing
body.

MONITORING, ASSESSMENT AND REPORTING: The
EU, with NORWAY and MEXICO, proposed language on assessing
progress of NLBI implementation. The EU suggested the Secretariat
prepare a report for each session based on country and CPF reports on
NLBI implementation. ARGENTINA, ECUADOR and VENEZUELA
opposed a paragraph reiterating the seven thematic elements of SFM.
The EU requested bracketing the paragraph, noting dependency on WGI
deliberations. The US, SWITZERLAND, AUSTRALIA and MEXICO
supported its retention.

REVIEW: The US requested bracketing this section, while the EU,
with MEXICO, proposed language on reviewing progress in NLBI
implementation. AUSTRALIA opposed a paragraph on undertaking
a mid-term review during UNFF9. On reviewing the effectiveness of
the international arrangement on forests (IAF) at UNFF11, MEXICO,
supported by PERU, proposed language on beginning negotiations for a
legally-binding instrument.

AD HOC EXPERT GROUPS: The US proposed: renaming the
section “Intersessional Work of the Forum”; and language to reflect that
ad hoc groups’ purposes need not be predetermined. ARGENTINA, with
VENEZUELA, proposed deleting this section while SWITZERLAND
and the AFRICAN GROUP suggested amendments based in part on
clarifying proposed biennial and intersessional work. AUSTRALIA
proposed that ad hoc groups also address forest certification schemes and
IAF evaluation.

DETAILED MYPOW: PAPUA NEW GUINEA, opposed by
INDIA, proposed retaining climate change in the 2008-09 cycle.
MEXICO proposed a paragraph addressing the link between the
MYPOW and NLBI.

RESOURCES: On ensuring appropriate resources for the Forum’s
work, AUSTRALIA, with the EU, opposed reference to “additional”
resources. The US bracketed this paragraph and another on reviewing
Secretariat capacity at each session. MEXICO proposed deleting these
paragraphs, while the EU proposed deleting the latter.

IN THE CORRIDORS

While some delegates found the morning’s multi-stakeholder dialogue
to be a stark reminder of real-world concerns facing forest users, the
dialogue did little to detract from the pressing issue of financing. The
PROFOR paper on means of implementation, presented in a side event,
though stimulating innovative thinking about financing, left many
with more questions than answers on how money for implementation
will materialize. Several delegates are hoping to decide on a rough
framework concept at UNFF7, leaving the nitty-gritty details for future
meetings, while others pointed out that it is precisely the particularities
of funding that need to be agreed before headway can be made on the
NLBI. Meanwhile, delegates in WGII made speedy progress on the first
reading of the MYPOW draft text, but some predicted that Thursday’s
discussions will be more divided on the nature of future Forum themes
and the necessity of intersessional preparatory meetings.



